
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 	 ) 
) 

Plaintiff-Appellant and 	 ) 
Cross-Appellee, 	 ) 

) 
v. 	 ) 

) 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 	 ) 

) 
Defendant-Appellee and 	 ) 

Cross-Appellant. 	 ) 
	 ) 

Nos. 82-1229, 82-1274, 
83-1363, and 83-1380 

CONSENT MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL AND 
CROSS-APPEAL IN NOS. 83-1363 AND 83-1380, AND 
TO CONSOLIDATE NOS. 83-1363 AND 83-1380 WITH 

NOS. 82-1229 AND 82-1274  

The defendant United States Department of Justice (the 

Department), appellant in Nos. 82-1229 and 83-1363, hereby 

requests this Court to stay proceedings on appeal and cross- 

appeal in 83-1363 and 83-1380, filed, respectively, on March 21 

and April 4, 	1983. We also move to consolidate 83-1363 and 83- 

1380 with 82-1229 and 82-1274, which were themselves stayed and 

consolidated by order of this Court on April 8, 1982, pending 

final disposition of pending motions in the district court. 

We are authorized to state that counsel for the plaintiff 

consents to this motion. 

The reasons for these requests are as follows: 

1. Plaintiff Harold Weisberg instituted this lawsuit under 

the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. 552 et seq., more than 

seven years ago and has sought, during the course of the 

litigation, thousands of pages of Federal Bureau of Investigation 
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records concerning the assassination of Dr. Martin Luther King, 

Jr. 

2. The appeal and cross-appeal in 83-1363 and 83-1380 are 

from the order of the district court entered January 21, 1983 

(Exhibit A), ruling, inter alia, a) that plaintiff is entitled to 

$93,926.25 in attorney's fees, and b) that contrary to earlier 

court orders which were the bases for the appeals in 82-1229 and 

82-1274, plaintiff is not entitled to a consultancy fee for his 

own services in allegedly assisting the government during this 

litigation. (Exhibit A at 1-2) 11  

3. On January 31, 1983, plaintiff filed a timely motion 

(Exhibit B) under Fed.R.Civ. P. 52(b) and 59 for "partial 

reconsideration" of the January 21, 1983 order. The motion 

sought a new ruling on the consultancy fee issue. 

4. Under Fed.R.App.P. 4(a), upon the filing of a timely 

motion under Rule 52(b) or Rule 59, "the time for appeal for all 

parties shall run from the entry of the order . . . granting or 

denying . . 	such motion." 

5. It thus appears that both the Department's March 21, 

1983 notice of appeal and the plaintiff's April 4, 1983 notice of 

cross-appeal may have been unnecessary, in that appeal of any 

aspect of the January 21 order may have to await a ruling from 

1/ 	The court itself had characterized those earlier rulings, 
made December 1, 1981 and January 5, 1982, as a "summary 
judgment" and a "dismissal," respectively. See the Department's 
Motion to Stay Proceedings on Appeal and Cross-Appeal, March 23, 
1982, at Exhibit C, 13; Exhibit D, 4. 
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the district court on plaintiff's January 31 motion for 

reconsideration. V 

6. In addition, the district court may well need access to 

the record in order to make its determination whether or not to 

alter the January 21 ruling with respect to the existence of a 

consultancy fee arrangement between the parties. 3/ 

7. Out of an abundance of caution, however, lest the 

pending reconsideration motion be construed to be partially or 

totally ineffective, or the January 21, 1983, order be otherwise 

construed as final and appealable, the Department, with the 

plaintiff's agreement, requests that the appeal in 83-1363 (filed 

March 21, 1983) and the cross-appeal in 83-1380 (filed April 4, 

1983) be stayed and consolidated with the proceedings in 82-1229 

and 82-1274, until such time as the district court disposes of 

2/ 	Subsequent to the plaintiff's motion, the Department filed 
an opposition on February 10, 1983; the plaintiff replied to that 
opposition on February 22, 1983; and, at the district court's 
specific request, the Department submitted a response to the 
plaintiff's reply on March 22, 1983. 

3/ 	Furthermore, the district court has yet to determine what 
litigation costs may be due the plaintiff. See Exhibit A at 2. 
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James H. Lesar, Esquire 
1000 Wilson Boulevard 
Suite 900 
Arlington, Virginia 22209 

4-- 
MARIL S.G. 4RWITZ 
Atto ney for Defendant-Appellee -) 

Cross-Appellant 

the January 31, 1983, motion for reconsideration with a final and 

appealable order which can then be reviewed by this Court in 

conjunction with the other pending appeals and cross-appeals in 

this matter. 

Respectfully submitted, 

LEONARD SCHAI 02) 633-3441 

 

S.G. URWITZ (202) 633-3469 
Attorneys, Appellate Staff 
Civil Division, Room 3617 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Washington, D.C. 20530 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 14th day of April, 1983, I 

served the foregoing Consent Motion To Stay Proceedings On Appeal 

And Cross-Appeal in Nos. 83-1363 and 83-1380, And To Consolidate 

Nos. 83-1363 and 83-1380 With Nos. 82-1229 and 82-1274, upon 

opposing counsel by causing a copy to be mailed, postage prepaid, 

to: 

IL 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG 

Plaintiff 

v. 

U. S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ) 

Defendant 

Civil Action No. 75-1996 

FILED 

JAN 2 0 1983 

ORDER 	CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
D!"tICT OF COLUMBIA 

Upon consideration of plaintiff's motions for 

attorney's fee and litigation costs and for an orde
r 

compelling defendant to pay consultancy fee, defen
dant's 

oppositions thereto, plaintiff's replies thereto, p
laintiff's 

motion for leave to file October 31, 1982 affidavit
 of Harold 

Weisberg in camera, defendant's opposition thereto,
 and the 

entire record in this action, for the reasons state
d in the 

accompanying memorandum opinion, it is by the Court
 this 18th 

day of January 1983, 

ORDERED that plaintiff's motion for attorney's fee 

and litigations costs is granted; it is further 

ORDERED that plaintiff is awarded the sum of 

$93,926.25 reasonable attorney fees incurred in th
is action; 

it is further 
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ORDERED that plaintiff shall file an affidavit or 

other documentation within ten (10) days of the date of t
his 

order providing information on costs as requested by the 
Court 

in the accompanying memorandum opinion on page 23; it is 

further 

ORDERED that the Court's orders of December 1, 1981 

and January 5, 1982 granting plaintiff's motion for an or
der 

requiring defendant to pay consultancy fee and denying 

defendant's motion for reconsideration thereof are vacate
d; it 

is further 

ORDERED that plaintiff's motion for an order 

compelling defendant to pay consultancy fee is denied; it
 is 

further 

ORDERED that plaintiff's motion for leave to file 

October 31, 1982 affidavit of Harold Weisberg in camera i
s 

denied as moot. 
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S H. LESAR 
000 Wilson Blvd., Suite 900 
Arlington, Va. 22209 
Phone: 276-0404 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 	 Civil Action No. 75-1996 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 

Defendant 

PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL RECONSIDERATION 
OF COURT'S ORDER ENTERED JANUARY 21, 1983  

Comes now the plaintiff, Mr. Harold Weisberg, and moves the 

Court, pursuant to Rules 52(b) and 59 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, to reconsider that part of its order entered January 21, 

1983, which denied plaintiff's motion for an order compelling de-

fendant to pay consultancy fee. In making this motion, plaintiff 

waives the amount of his claim in excess of $10,000 and asks the 

Court to reconsider its decision on equitable grounds. 

A memorandum of points and authorities in support of this 

motion and a proposed order are attached hereto. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Attorney for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have this 31st day of January, 1983, 

mailed a copy of the foregoing Plaintiff's Motion for Partial 

Reconsideration of Court's Order Entered January 21, 1983, to Mr. 

William G. Cole, Civil Division, Room 3338, U.S. Department of 

Justice, Washingtoin, D.C. 20530. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 

Defendant 

Civil'Action No. 75-1996 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Preliminary Statement 

In the Court's order dated January 18, 1983, the Court denied 

plaintiff's motion for an order compelling payment of consultancy 

fee. In the opinion accompanying its order, the Court noted that 

its jurisdiction to decide this matter is not necessarily foreclosed 

by the fact that the amount in controversy exceeds $10,000, since 

plaintiff is entitled to waive the excess of the claim over $10,000, 

thereby conferring jurisdiction on this Court. Memorandum Opinion 

at 24, citing Stone v. United States, 683 F.2d 449, 452 (D.C.Cir. 

1982). Plaintiff hereby waives the amount over $10,000; therefore, 

there is no longer any question about the jurisdiction of this Court 

to decide the matter. 

Although the Court considered the matter on the merits on the 

assumption that plaintiff would waive the amount of the claim over 

$10,000, the Court limited itself to considering plaintiff's right 
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to revoer undre contract and in quantum meruit for breach of an 

implied in fact contract. Memorandum Opinion at 24-26. The Court 

did not consider whether the doctrines of equitable estoppel or 

promissory estoppel might have application to the facts and circum-

stances of the consultancy matter. Plaintiff asks the Court to 

reconsider its ruling in light of these legal doctrines. 

Furthermore, in denying plaintiff recovery on the merits, 

the Court made several factual findings which plaintiff contends 

are clearly in error when the totality of the evidence is con= - 

sidered. These include findings that plaintiff voluntarily spent 

time on the consultancy; that defendant did not use plaintiff's 

work and thus derived no benefit from it; that there was no agree-

ment as to the place of work or the amount of time to be spent on 

the consultancy. Plaintiff asks the Court to reconsider these 

findings, and to alter and amend them in accordance with the evi-

dence discussed below. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On November 11, 1977, plaintiff and his counsel met in the 

Department of Justice Building with Deputy Assistant Attorney Gen-

eral William Schaffer, Mrs. Lynne Zusman, then Chief of the Freedom 

of Information and Privacy Acts Section, Civil Division, U.S. De-

partment of Justice, and several FBI agents to discuss the resolu-

tion of problems preventing the conclusion of this case. May 16, 
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1978 Lesar Affidavit, ¶1. (Hereafter, "Lesar Affidavit") 

During this conference Schaffer proposed that the Department 

hire Weisberg as a consultant to review MURKIN records and advise 

the Department on wrong excisions and other matters, such as the 

existence of other records which had not yet been produced. While 

Weisberg did not reject this proposal outright, he did resist it. 

Lesar Affidavit, ¶114-5. 

On November 21, 1977, Mr. Weisberg met in the chambers of 

this Court with his counsel, Mrs. Zusman, AUSA John R. Dugan, and 

FBI agents. During the conference the government set forth its 

proposal that Weisberg act as its paid consultant. Weisberg again 

indicated his reluctance to undertake this obligation, stating sev-

eral times that he wanted a sign of good faith from the government
 

before he agreed to become its consultant. Lesar Affidavit, ¶6. 

After this Court commented that the government was not going 

to pay him as its consultant, then disregard his criticisms, he 

agreed, in response to a direct question by the Court, to undertake 

the consultancy. Lesar Affidavit, ¶7. 

On Novembember 25, 1977, Weisberg wrote Schaffer concerning 

the consultancy. He stated "I will do what I was asked as rapidly 

as possible . 	." He also enclosed a receipt in the amount of 

$22.60 for dictation tapes which he had purchased and asked for re-

imbursement of this expense. (Lesar Affidavit, Attachment 1) 

On December 11, 1977, Weisberg again wrote Schaffer. He told 

Schaffer that he had spent 80 hours on the consultancy and esti- 

3 

1978 Lesar Affidavit, ¶1. (Hereafter, "Lesar Affidavit") 

During this conference Schaffer proposed that the Department 

hire Weisberg as a consultant to review MURKIN records and advise 

the Department on wrong excisions and other matters, such as the 

existence of other records which had not yet been produced. While 

Weisberg did not reject this proposal outright, he did resist it. 

Lesar Affidavit, ¶114-5. 

On November 21, 1977, Mr. Weisberg met in the chambers of 

this Court with his counsel, Mrs. Zusman, AUSA John R. Dugan, and 

FBI agents. During the conference the government set forth its 

proposal that Weisberg act as its paid consultant. Weisberg again 

indicated his reluctance to undertake this obligation, stating sev-

eral times that he wanted a sign of good faith from the government
 

before he agreed to become its consultant. Lesar Affidavit, ¶6. 

After this Court commented that the government was not going 

to pay him as its consultant, then disregard his criticisms, he 

agreed, in response to a direct question by the Court, to undertake 

the consultancy. Lesar Affidavit, ¶7. 

On Novembember 25, 1977, Weisberg wrote Schaffer concerning 

the consultancy. He stated "I will do what I was asked as rapidly 

as possible . 	." He also enclosed a receipt in the amount of 

$22.60 for dictation tapes which he had purchased and asked for re-

imbursement of this expense. (Lesar Affidavit, Attachment 1) 

On December 11, 1977, Weisberg again wrote Schaffer. He told 

Schaffer that he had spent 80 hours on the consultancy and esti- 



4 

mated that it would take about two hours per Section to complete 

the work. He also noted that he had not been informed of what 

compensation he was to receive. Although he expressed his belief 

that the government was stalling him, he asserted "I have pro-

ceeded in good faith and this will continue." Lesar Affidavit, 

Attachment 2. 

On December 17, 1977, Weisberg wrote Schaffer again. Re-

ferring to the consultancy as "this matter of my involuntary in-

servitude all of you imposed upon me by misrepresenting to the 

judge," he again raised the question of his compensation. Lesar 

Affidavit, Attachment 3. 

On December 26, 1977, Weisberg's counsel wrote to Mrs. Zus-

man explaining that Schaffer had not responded to Weisberg's in-

quiries about his rate of pay and requested that she find out. 

He also inquired about the possibility of an interim payment to 

Mr. Weisberg. Lesar Affidavit, $11. 

On Sunday evening, January 15, 1978, Zusman called Weisberg's 

counsel at his home and inquired whether $75 per hour would be 

enough to compensate Weisberg. Lesar Affidavit, ¶12. After 

checking with his client, Mr. Lesar informed Mrs. Zusman that 

Weisberg had agreed to accept the Department's offer. On January 

26, 1978, Mr. Lesar met with several Department attorneys, includ-

ing Mrs. Zusman. On that occasion he also raised again the pos-

sibility of an interim payment to Weisberg. July 22, 1982 Lesar 

Affidavit ("Supplemental Lesar Affidavit"), ¶4. Mrs. Zusman told 
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him that he should write a letter to Schaffer explaining the 

nature of the agreement, what Weisberg had done and would do, the 

number of hours he was claiming compensation for, and his desire 

for an interim payment. By letter dated Janaury 31, 1978, Lesar 

did this. His letter expressly requested an interim payment of 

$6,000 for 80 hours of work at the rate of $75 per hour. As sug-

gested by Zusman, Lesar sent her a complimentary copy of his letter 

to Schaffer. Lesar Affidavit, ¶$14-15; Attachment 5. 

At the March 7, 1978 status call, Zusman reaffirmed the De-

partment's commitment to pay Weisberg for his consultancy work, 

describing its offer to pay him a fee as "generous and unique" 

and "highly unusual." March 7, 1978 transcript at 7. 

In addition to the foregoing facts, certain materials adduced 

on discovery in this case set forth highly relevant facts. Thus, 

Zusman's memorandum to Barbara Allen Babcock summarizing the Jan-

uary 26 meeting with Lesar states: "I pointed out that Mr. Weis-

berg could better devote his time to the tasks involved in his con- 

sultancy with the Department . . 	." Other pertinent portions 

state: 

3. With respect to that consultancy arrange-
ment, I mentioned that we have received neither a 
formal itemized statement of Mr. Weisberg's hours 
nor any work product resulting from his efforts. 
Lesar indicated that he expects there to be some 
work product soon, although the Department may have 
some "false expectations" concerning this arrange-
ment. He expects that Mr. Weisberg will dictate 
memoranda concerning "improper excisions" and "things 
which should be there but.are not," but that Mr. 
Weisberg is not at all satisified by this arrange-
ment, a feeling which according to Lesar has been 
exacerbated by the fact that Mr. Weisberg's review 
of the indexing materials involved in that case 
led him to the angry conclusion that the Government 
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"had never listened to him at all." When I re-
minded Lesar that Judge Green had clearly placed 
the burden on Weisberg to review these materials, 

Attachment 1. 

Notes on a February 15, 1978, meeting between Department 

attorneys and Schaffer contain entries indicating agreement to pay 

Weisberg for "equipment and secretarial services," and that Lesar 

should be notified that "there's a problem with $75.00 per hour" 

fee. Attachment 2. 

The significance of these facts in terms of the legal issues 

will be discussed below. 

Argument  

Because the doctrine of equitable estoppel depends upon the 

facts and circumstances of each particular case, "(title cases them-

selves must be looked to and applied by way of analogy rather than 

rule." 28 Am. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, S27. Although the 

doctrine has been applied in a myriad different situations and is 

subject to numerous varying attempts at definition, a few statements 

of the doctrine make its central concept quite clear: 

The doctrine of estoppel is based upon the 
grounds of public policy, fair dealing, good 
faith and justice, and its purpose is to for-
bid one to speak against his own act, represen-
tations, or commitments to the injury of one 
to whom they were direct and who reasonably 
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relied thereon. Smith v. Coutant, 232 Iowa 887, 
6 N.W.2d 241. 

Estoppel is based upon the theory that where 
one has by his conduct induced another to change 
his position to his damage, disadvantage or detri-
ment, he is estopped from benefiting by such 
conduct. Taylor v. Quin, 68 Ohio App. 164, 39 N.E. 
2d 627. 

The doctrine of equitable estoppel which is 
founded upon good faith, is designed to prevent 
injustice by barring a party, under special 
circumstances, from taking a position contrary to 
his prior acts, admissions, representations, or 
silence. American Bank & Trust Co. v. Trinity  
Universal Ins. Co., 251 La. 445, 205 So.2d 35. 

. . . the doctrine of . . . equitable estoppel 
is to prevent injury arising from actions or decla-
rations that have been acted on in good faith and 
which it would be inequitable to permit the party 
to retract. Pickett v. Associates Discount Corp., 
435 P. 2d 445 (Wyo.) 

In short, as equitable estoppel is "found on principles of 

morality and fair dealing, and is intended to subserve the ends of 

justice. 28 Am. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, 528, citing, inter  

alia, Bowen v. Howenstein, 39 App.D.C. 585. 

The facts and circumstances of this case clearly warrant the 

application of equitable estoppel to bar defendant from asserting 

that it did not agree to pay him for the consultancy. It is un-

contested that at the November 21, 1977 conference in chambers 

defendant represented' that it would pay Weisberg for his work. 

Weisberg himself began raising questions about the rate of payment 

four days later when he wrote Schaffer. The Government's intention 

that Weisberg continue working is made transparent by the Zusman 

memorandum on the January 27, 1978 meeting with Lesar during which 
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she admittedly "pointed out-that Mr. Weisberg could better de-

vote his time to the tasks involved in his consultancy . . . 

Weisberg relied on representations by the Department (and 

the Court, also) that he would be paid for his work. The Depart-

ment at no time told him to stop work on the consultancy and aware-

both of the Department's demands that he produce a report and the 

Court's desire to move the case along, he continued in good faith 

to do what he had been requested to do. In view of his repeated 

requests for specification of the rate of pay, the Department's 

demands that he get on with the consults (and complaints that it 

had not yet received any work product), and the obvious time 

pressures involved in any matter in litigation, the Department's 

failure to respond promptly to (1) his initial inquiries in No-

vember and December, 1977 regarding the rate of pay, and (2) his 

request for an interim payment at the rate of $75 per hour, de-

fendant should be estopped from asserting that it does not owe him 

done for work which he performed during its inaction. It is well 

recognized that an estoppel may arise from silence or inaction. 

Indeed, "[slilence when there is a duty to speak, is deemed equiva-

lent to concealment." 28 Am. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, S 53. 

Weisberg relied upon the representations that he would be 

paid to his detriment. He regarded the entire consultancy as a 

matter that he had unwillingly agreed to do. He continued to 

work on the project after the Department began objecting to the 

rate of pay Weisberg thought it had agreed to pay him out of a 
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a sense of obligation to the Court and good faith commitment to 

his given word, an attachment to morality noticeably lacking in 

the Government's actions (and inactions). 

"He who by his language or conduct, leads another to do 

what he would not otherwise have done, shall not subject such 

person to loss or injury by disappointing the expectations upon 

which he acted." Dickerson v. Colgrove, 100 U.S. 578. Defendant 

and the Court led plaintiff to undertake_ work that would not 

otherwise have done--work which he in fact had resisted doing--upon 

the'representation that he wold be paid for his work. In effect, 

he has been defrauded. 

Even where two innocent persons are each guiltless of moral 

wrong, the equitable principal is that the one who by his conduct 

has rendered the injury possible, or who could have prevented it, 

must bear the loss or damage suffered by the other. 28 Am. Jur. 2d 

Estoppel and Waiver S 62, citing cases. The Department here was 

not guiltless of moral wrong, but in any event it is its conduct 

that rendered the injury possible, and it clearly could have pre-

vented the injury (loss of time and wages) to Weisberg if it had 

responded promptly to his inquiries about his rate of pay and his 

demand for an interim rate of pay at the rate offered by Mrs. Zus-

man. 
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-CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should vacate that 

part of its January 18, 1983 order denying Weisberg his consultancy 

payment and award him $10,000. 

Respectfully submitted, 

1441 . APL 
417 s H. L SAR 
000 Wilson Blvd., Suite 900 

Arlington, Va. 22209 
Phone: 276-0404 

Attorney for Plaintiff 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 	 Civil Action No. 75-1996 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, 

Defendant 

ORDER 

Upon consideration of plaintiff's motion for partial recon-

sideration, defendant's opposition thereto, and the entire record 

herein, it is by the Court this 	 day of 	 , 1983, 

hereby 

ORDERED, that the Court hereby vacates that part of its 

Order of January 18, 1983 which denied plaintiff's motion to pay 

consultancy fee; and it is further 

ORDERED, that defendant shall pay to plaintiff a consultancy 

fee in the amount of $10,000. 
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MEMORANDUM OPINION 

This Freedom of Information Act case is before the 

Court on plaintiff's motion for attorney's fee and litigation 

costs, and plaintiff's motion for an order compelling 

defendant to pay consultancy fee. For the reasons istated 

below, the Court awards attorney's fees to plaintiff in the 

amount of $93,926.25 orders plaintiff to submit further 

documentation on his litigation costs, and denies plaintiff's 

motion concerning the consultancy fee. 

I. 

Background 

Section 552(a)(4)(E) of the Freedom of Information 

Act, 5 U.S.C. 5 552, provides that a district court of the 
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reasonable attorney fees and other litigation costs reasonably 
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section in which
 the 

complainant has 
substantially pr
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records on the a
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list: receipts for records or physica
l evidence; reports of 

tests performed on evidence, includin
g fingerprints; the 

taxicab log of Memphis cab driver Jame
s McGraw or the cab 

company for which he worked; transcri
pts of radio logs of 

Memphis police or Shelby County Sheri
ff's office for April 4, 

1968, records of communications betwe
en the Department of 

Justice and 34 named individuals; comm
unications from the 

District Attorney General of Shelby C
ounty, Tennessee and the 

Attorney General of Tennessee to the 
Department of Justice; 

records of surveillance of the Committ
ee to Investigate 

Assassinations and 23 named persons, i
ncluding plaintiff and 

his counsel; records pertaining to an
y witness; reports 

concerning the guilty plea of James Ea
rl Ray; records of 

inquiry by any member of the news med
ia concerning the 

assassination; records of any re-inve
stigation; records 

pertaining to two named motels; recor
ds pertaining to James 

Earl Ray's eyesight; records not made
 available to plaintiff 

which were provided to other writers; 
any list or index of 

evidence; records of surveillance of 
a group of young black 

radicals known as The Invaders or of a
ny unions involved in 

the garbage strike in Memphis; record
s of any law enforcement 

contact with The Invaders; and last, 
records tending to 

exculpate James Earl Ray. Exhibit F t
o the Complaint. 
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e also Affidavi
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of Quinlan Shea,
 Jr., director o

f the Office of 
Privacy and 
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als, FBI, filed 

August 10, 1976,
 1 12. 

In October, the 
Government ackno

wledged that 

plaintiff had tr
iggered a comple

te review of the
 Martin Luther 

King assassinat
ion file. Tr., 

October 8, 1976
, at 5. It was 

apparent to the 
Court and the pa

rties at the tim
e that Mr. 
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Weisberg was instrumental in cau
sing review of the 

investigation of Dr. King's assa
ssination by the Office of 

Professional Responsibiity of th
e Department of Justice and by 

the House Select Committee on A
ssassinations. Id. 

Releases of documents to plainti
ff began on October 

28, 1976, nearly one year after 
the filing of the complaint. 

See Affidavit of Special Agent H
orace Beckwith, March 3, 1977. 

Within the next year plaintiff r
eceived some 44,000 pages. 

Tr., November 2, 1977, at 2. 

The Consultancy Arrangement  

At a meeting on November 11, 197
7 with plaintiff and 

his counsel, Mrs. Lynne Zusman, 
the Government attorney then 

assigned to this case, and Deput
y Assistant Attorney General 

William Schaffer proposed that t
he Department of Justice hire 

Mr. Weisberg as a consultant. T
he purpose of the consultancy 

was to have Mr. Weisberg review 
the approximately 44,000 pages 

of documents which had been rele
ased and list the deletions 

about which he was raising quest
ions. See tr., March 7, 1978, 

at 2-3 and 7 (statements of Gove
rnment counsel); defendant's 

Report to the Court, May 12, 197
8. 
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nature of the work product 

were agreed upon. Plaintiff's cou
nsel maintains that Mrs. 

Weisberg was instrumental in cau
sing review of the 

investigation of Dr. King's assa
ssination by the Office of 

Professional Responsibiity of th
e Department of Justice and by 

the House Select Committee on A
ssassinations. Id. 

Releases of documents to plainti
ff began on October 

28, 1976, nearly one year after 
the filing of the complaint. 

See Affidavit of Special Agent H
orace Beckwith, March 3, 1977. 

Within the next year plaintiff r
eceived some 44,000 pages. 

Tr., November 2, 1977, at 2. 
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Lynne Zusman offered a rate of $75 a
n hour in a telephone 

conversation with him on January 16
, 1978. Plaintiff's 

Memorandum to the Court, May 16, 19
78. Mrs. -Zusman denies 

making such an offer. Defendant's R
eport to the Court, supra.  

According to Mrs. Zusman, she merely
 indicated that the only 

similar consultant arrangement she k
new of was for twelve 

hours at $75 an hour, and that was 
never adopted. Id. 

Deputy Assistant Attorney General Sc
haffer testified 

in Court on May 24, 1978 that the As
sistant Attorney General 

had authorized him to enter into an 
arrangement to pay Mr. 

Weisberg $30 an hour for his time. 
Tr., May 24, 1978, at 3. 

The Department of Justice rejected p
laintiff's bill in June 

1978. Pursuant to the Court's order
 on December 1, 1981, 

plaintiff submitted an affidavit sta
ting that he spent 205 

hours on the consultancy between Jan
uary 21, 1978 and June 24, 

1978. He seeks $15,914.23 for his w
ork, including $496 for 

transcription of dictation by his wi
fe and $50.31 for expenses. 

See Affidavit of Harold Weisberg, De
cember 5, 1981. 

* * * 

In September 1978, Quinlan Shea, Jr.
, then director 

of the FBI's FOIA appeals office, wa
s placed in charge of pro-

cessing records for this action at 
the Court's request. Mr. 

Shea made extensive efforts to revie
w the FBI's search of its 

headquarters files and thoroughly pr
ocess responsive documents. 
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See, e.g.., tr., Sep
tember 14, 1978, at 9;

 September 28, 1978, 

at 2-3; January 12, 1
979, at 4-6. Plaintif

f began filing 

numerous motions direc
ted at specific items 

of his request. 

The -Zoirrt granted some,
 others it denied. 

The Court granted in w
hole or part the follo

wing 

motions: disclosure o
f indices in the Memp

his field office of 

- the FBI, Order of Au
gust 15, 1979; disclos

ure of FBI abstract 

cards of its investiga
tion, tr., February 8,

 1980 at 7-8 and 

10, cf. Weisberg v. U.
 S. Department of Just

ice, No. 75-1996, 

slip op. at 3 (Decembe
r 1, 1981); filing of 

Vaughn index, 

granted in part by ord
ers requiring two Vaug

hn samplings of 

every 200th document, 
Orders of February 26,

 1980 and 

September 11, 1980; di
sclosure of records in

 Civil Rights 

Division of the Depart
ment of Justice, grant

ed in part, 

Weisberg v. U. S. Depa
rtment of Justice, sup

ra, slip op. at 

5-6; disclosure of rec
ords in the offices of

 the Attorney 

General and Deputy Att
orney General, Order o

f September 11, 

1980, further search o
rdered in part, Weisbe

rg v. U. S.  

Department of Justice,
 supra, slip op. at 9 

n.1; search for 

neutron activation and
 spectrographic materi

als, id., at 5; 

and disclosure of reco
rds described in field

 office 

inventories found by t
he Court not to have b

een released 

earlier in the litiga
tion, id., at 8-9. In

 addition, this 

litigation caused a se
arch or release of rec

ords in other ways. 
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Plaintiff apparently received from
 this action documents 

referred to the Central Intelligen
ce Agency -aIthough his 

motions concerning them were denie
d. Affidavit of Harold 

Weisberg, October 28, 1982, 1 58. 
The Court ordered sua 

sponte a renewed search for the ta
xicab manifest sought by 

plaintiff. Weisberg v. U. S. Depar
tment of Justice, supra, 

slip op. at 10 n.l. The Government
 released several 

photographs copyrighted by Time Ma
gazine after pursuing an 

appeal, tr., August 15, 1980, at 4
. 

Three of plaintiff's motions which
 the Court denied 

involved few documents, i.e., disc
losure of six documents from 

the MURKIN file; disclosure of FBI
 laboratory ticklers of 

three documents; disclosure of 114
 documents from the MURKIN 

file withheld in their entirety. B
efore denying the motions, 

the Court reviewed in camera the s
ix documents (the Government 

had released three previously), th
e laboratory ticklers, and 

26 of the documents withheld in th
eir entirety. Weisberg v.  

U. S. Department of Justice, No. 7
5-1996, slip op. at 3-4, 5 

and 7-8 (December 1, 1981); id., m
emorandum order at 2-3 

(January 5, 1982). 

The other motions of plaintiff den
ied by the Court 

did not deny him specific records.
 Those motions sought 

mammoth and repetitious searches o
r reprocessing for documents 

which the Department of Justice ha
d processed previously in 
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reasonably thorough fashion, i.e.
, releasing field office 

records offered by letter of Clar
ence Kelly, Director of the 

FBI; reprocessing FBI field offi
ce records withheld as 

previously processed; appointing
 Quinlan Shea, Jr., in charge 

of the case or in the alternativ
e, requiring him to process 

plaintiff's administrative appea
ls; and reprocessing records 

at FBI headquarters, id., slip o
p. at 3, 4, 6, and 10 n.1 

(December 1, 1981). 

The Court denied the Government'
s first motion for 

partial summary judgment on the 
thoroughness and scope of the 

search for responsive documents
. Order, August 24, 1979. 

After three hearings and numerou
s oral orders to search for 

specific items, the Court grante
d the Government's second such 

motion in part by declaring that
 the FBI had made a proper and 

good faith search of its headqua
rters files on Dr. King's 

assassination (labeled MURKIN fi
les) and in the files of its 

field offices. Order, February 
26, 1980; see generally tr., 

January 1, February 8 and 26, 19
80. 

On September 11, 1980, the Court
 denied the 

Government's motion for summary 
judgment on the deletions in 

documents released to plaintiff,
 and ordered the preparation 

of a second sampling for a Vaugh
n index. The Government filed 

a second dispositive motion for 
summary judgment on December 

10, 1980. After resolving numer
ous motions by plaintiff, the 
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Court ultimately grante
d the Government's moti

on for summary 

judgment, Weisberg v. U
. S. Department of Just

ice, No. 75-1996 

(December 1, 1981), and
 dismissed the case aft

er in camera  

review of documents, id
. (memorandum order) (J

anuary 5, 1982). 

Both parties appealed.
 The Court of Appeals 

stayed 

those proceedings until
 this Court disposed of

 all motions. 

Weisberg v. U. S. Depar
tment of Justice, Nos. 

82-1229 and 1274 

(order) (D. C. Cir. Apr
il 8, 1982). 

II. 

Discussion 

A. 

The Court ruled previou
sly that plaintiff 

substantially prevaile
d. Weisberg v. U. S. D

epartment of  

Justice, slip op., at 3
 (December 1, 1981); me

morandum order, 

at 2 (January 5, 1982)
. Four criteria are re

levant under the 

Freedom of Information 
Act (FOIA) in deciding 

whether or not 

the Court should exerci
se its discretion to gr

ant an award of 

attorney's fees and cos
ts: 

(1) the benefit to th
e public, if any, deriv

ed from 

the case; 

(2) the commercial be
nefit to the plaintiff;

 

(3) the nature of the p
laintiff's interest in 

the 

records sought; and 

Q1. 
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(4) whether the government
's withholding of the 

records had a reasonable b
asis in law. 

Fenster v. Brown, 617 F.2d
 740, 74.2 (D. C. Cir. 1979)

. 

The four criteria were tak
en from S. 2543, 93d 

Cong., 2d Sess. (1974), a 
bill to amend the FOIA. Th

e House 

and Senate conferees omitt
ed specific reference to t

he 

criteria from the final ve
rsion because they believe

d that 

courts already applied the
m. An explicit reference t

o the 

four criteria in the statu
te, the conferees stated, 

could be 

too delimiting and was unn
ecessary. H.R. Rep. No. 13

80, 93d 

Cong., 2d Sess. 10 (1974).
 

1. Public Benefit  

The Senate report indicate
d that "a court would 

ordinarily award fees, for
 example, where a newsman 

was 

seeking information to be 
used in a publication or a

 public 

interest group was seeking
 information to further a 

project 

benefitting the public." F
enster v. Brown, supra, at

 742 n.4, 

quoting S. Rep. No. 854, 9
3d Cong., 2d Sess. 19 (197

4). 

Several factors indicate t
he public benefitted from 

this litigation. The FBI p
laced the King assassinati

on file 

in its public reading room
 after plaintiff filed sui

t. The 

Department of Justice gran
ted plaintiff a waiver of 

fees for 

searching and copying. Num
erous Department of Justic

e 

officials, including an at
torney general, declared t

he records 
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released to plaintiff of historical significance and public 

interest. Plaintiff's persistence in this action and others 

was largely responsible for two audits of the FBI's 

investigation of Dr. King's assassination: one by Congress

and the other by the Office of Professional Responsibility of 

the Department of Justice. The abstract cards, indices, and 

tickler files released to plaintiff contained data which are 

valuable to historians. Newspaper articles have been 

published based on records released to plaintiff in this 

action. Plaintiff intends to write a book using the records, 

and a major university has arranged to store the records 

released to plaintiff in its archives. 

Where, as here, the plaintiff's "victory is likely 

to add to the fund of information that citizens may use in 

making vital political choices," the benefit to the public 

favors an award. Blue v. Bureau of Prisons, 570 F.2d 529, 534 

(5th Cir. 1978). Some of the documents released to plaintiff 

reflected FBI surveillance of individuals or civil rights 

groups exercising constitutional rights, including Dr. King 

and his associates. Disclosure of these documents "adds 

important knowledge to the public domain, and adds to the 

collective knowledge of our society and the Government's 

activity in it." Katz v. Department of Justice, 498 F.Supp. 

177, 186 (S.D. N.Y. 1979). 
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2. Commercial 
Benefit  

The Court agree
s with both par

ties that no 

commercial bene
fit to plaintif

f has resulted 
or is likely to

 

result from thi
s action, even 

though plaintif
f has been 

working on a bo
ok about Dr. Ki

ng's assassinat
ion. Beginning 

in 1969 and con
tinuing through

out several yea
rs of this 

litigation, the
 FBI supplied o

ther writers wi
th information 

intentionally w
ithheld from Mr

. Weisberg. Mos
t of the 

potential comme
rcial benefit w

as erased by th
ose actions. To

 

the extent pote
ntial for comme

rcial benefit r
emains, 

plaintiff's int
erest closely r

esembles a news
 interest. The 

Senate report e
xpressly exclud

ed news interes
ts from 

consideration a
s a commercial 

interest under 
this factor. 

Fenster v. Brow
n, supra, at 54

2 n.4, quoting 
S. Rep. No. 854

, 

93d Cong., 2d S
ess. 19 (1974).

 

3. Nature of I
nterest  

Where the plain
tiff's interest

 in the informa
tion is 

scholarly, jour
nalistic, or pu

blic-interest o
riented, a cour

t 

will generally 
award fees. Id.

 Plaintiff has 
distributed 

some of the rec
ords to news me

dia. He is writ
ing a book usin

g 

the information
. A university 

will keep the r
ecords for 

posterity. Thes
e circumstances

 favor an award
, even though 

other FOIA case
s have been bro

ught seeking si
milar informati

on. 

See Goldstein v.
 Levi, 415 F.Su

pp. 303, 305 (D
.D.C. 1976) 
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(person who worked as producer of television show and intended 

to write a book on the Rosenberg spy case deserved award even 

though other FOIA cases sought similar information). 

4. Reasonable Basis for Withholding  

Under this criterion, "a court would not award fees 

where the government's withholding had a colorable basis in 

law but would ordinarily award them if the withholding 

appeared to be merely to avoid embarrassment or to frustrate 

the requester." Fenster v. Brown, supra, at 542 n.4, quoting 

S. Rep. No. 854, 93d Cong., 2d Sess. 19 (1974). Our Court of 

Appeals has emphasized that "(w)hat is required is a showing 

that the government had a reasonable basis in law for 

concluding that the information in issue was exempt and that 

it had not been recalcitrant or otherwise engaged in obdurate 

behavior." Cuneo v. Rumsfeld, 553 F.2d 1360, 1366 (D. C. Cir. 

1977). 

An agency has .a "duty to take reasonable steps to 

ferret out requested documents" (emphasis in original). 

McGehee v. Central Intelligence Agency, No. 82-1096, slip op. 

at 10 (D. C. Cir. January 4, 1983). For nearly a year after 

the filing of this action, the Government stalled by claiming 

mootness. Two more years passed before the Court found that 

the FBI had made a proper and good faith search of its files. 

The Court required many further searches and releases before 
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upholding the withholdings of records from plaintiff six years 

after he filed suit. 

Certainly some of the delay stemmed from the 

searching and processing of an enormous number of records. 

When considered in the context of the earier stonewalling and 

the repudiation of the consultancy arrangement, however, a 

significant portion of the post-1977 delay can only be 

attributed to a deliberate effort to frustrate this requester. 

The delay attributable to the Government's effort to frustrate 

Mr. Weisberg more than offsets the reasonable basis of the 

Government for concluding that the information ultimately 

withheld was exempt. Cuneo v. Rumsfeld, supra, at 1366. 

Since all four factors favor plaintiff, he is 

entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees and other 

litigation costs reasonably incurred in this case. 

B. 

A fee-setting inquiry "begins with the lodestar: 

the number of hours reasonably expended multiplied by a 

reasonable hourly rate." Copeland v. Marshall, 641 F.2d 880, 

891 (D. C. Cir. 1980) (en banc) (Copeland III). 

The fee application must provide "fairly definite 

information as to the hours devoted to various general 

activities, e.g., pretrial discovery, settlement negotiation 

. ." Jordan v. U. S. Department of Justice, 691 F.2d 514, 

15 

upholding the withholdings of records from plaintiff six years 

after he filed suit. 

Certainly some of the delay stemmed from the 

searching and processing of an enormous number of records. 

When considered in the context of the earier stonewalling and 

the repudiation of the consultancy arrangement, however, a 

significant portion of the post-1977 delay can only be 

attributed to a deliberate effort to frustrate this requester. 

The delay attributable to the Government's effort to frustrate 

Mr. Weisberg more than offsets the reasonable basis of the 

Government for concluding that the information ultimately 

withheld was exempt. Cuneo v. Rumsfeld, supra, at 1366. 

Since all four factors favor plaintiff, he is 

entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees and other 

litigation costs reasonably incurred in this case. 

B. 

A fee-setting inquiry "begins with the lodestar: 

the number of hours reasonably expended multiplied by a 

reasonable hourly rate." Copeland v. Marshall, 641 F.2d 880, 

891 (D. C. Cir. 1980) (en banc) (Copeland III). 

The fee application must provide "fairly definite 

information as to the hours devoted to various general 

activities, e.g., pretrial discovery, settlement negotiation 

. ." Jordan v. U. S. Department of Justice, 691 F.2d 514, 

15 



520 (D. C. Cir. 1982). *(D)etailed 
summaries based on 

contemporaneous time records* are d
esirable. National 

Association of Concerned Veterans v.
 Secretary-of Defense, 675 

- F.2d 1319, 1327 (D. C. Cir. 1982)
 (National Veterans). At 

least in Title VII and FOIA cases, f
ees are not recoverable 

for time expended on issues on which
 plaintiff did not 

ultimately prevail. Id. However, t
ime should be excluded 

only when the claims asserted are t
ruly fractionable.' Id., 

at 1327 n.13. 

Plaintiff filed a 24-page itemizatio
n of his 

attorney's time, based for the most 
part on contemporaneous 

records. The list is thorough and d
etailed. In view of the 

Court's decision on plaintiff's cons
ultancy fee motion today, 

the Court excludes the 44 hours plai
ntiff's counsel spent on 

it between February 3, 1982 and Jul
y 22, 1982. See attachment 

2 to motion for attorney's fee and l
itigation costs, at 21-23. 

Only 2.5 hours were expended on comp
ensable issues during that 

period (the time spent on plaintiff'
s appeal is also 

excluded). 

In addition, the Court excludes seve
n hours spent on 

unsuccessful motions which were reas
onably fractionable. 

Those motions sought reprocessing of
 FBI headquarters and 

field office records, attachment, su
pra, at 18, and placing 

Mr. Shea in charge of the case, id.,
 at 20. 
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Defendant did not challenge the re
asonableness or 

adequacy of description of the num
ber of hours and nature of 

work expended by plaintiff's couns
el. The Cou-rt—firids—them --  

reasonable, with one exception. Pl
aintiff's counsel expended 

86.7 hours preparing the attorney'
s fee application and reply. 

With due recognition to the comple
xity and length of the case 

and-  the fee motion, that amount of ti
me claimed is excessive. 

He is not entitled to compensation
, for example, for 

reconstructing time when a contemp
oraneous accounting should 

have been retained. Given the scop
e of this case and the fee 

motion, the Court finds an award f
or 50 hours would be 

reasonable. 

The number of hours reasonably exp
ended by 

plaintiff's counsel in this case i
s therefore 922.6 hours 

(total claimed by plaintiff includ
ing the reply brief) minus 

87.7 hours (exclusions for 44 hour
s spent on unsuccessful 

consultancy fee motion, 7 hours on
 other fractionable 

unsuccessful issues, and 36.7 hours
 spent unreasonably on fee 

application), or 834.9 hours. 

To determine a reasonable hourly ra
te, a court looks 

to the prevailing rate in the comm
unity for similar work. 

Relevant considerations include th
e level of skill necessary, 

time limitations, the amount to be
 obtained in the litigation, 

the attorney's reputation, and the
 undesirability of the case." 
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Copeland III, 641 F.2d, at 892.
 The rate should also depend 

on the experience of the attorne
y and type of work involved. 

Id. 

The Court of Appeals established
 further guidelines 

to determine reasonable hourly r
ates in the National Veterans  

case: 

An applicant is required to prov
ide specific 

evidence of the prevailing commu
nity rate for the 

type of work for which he seeks
 an award. For 

example, affidavits reciting the
 precise fees that 

attorneys with similar qualifica
tions have received 

from fee-paying clients in compa
rable cases provide 

prevailing community rate infor
mation. Recent fees 

awarded by the courts or through
 settlement to 

attorneys of comparable reputati
on and experience 

performing similar work are also
 useful guides in 

setting an appropriate rate. 

675 F.2d, at 1325. 

Plaintiff's counsel settled two 
similar but less 

time-consuming cases for $75 an 
hour in 1978 and 1982. 

Affidavit of James Lesar, Augus
t 19, 1982, 1 21. Other fee 

awards cited by plaintiff are no
t relevant because they did 

not involve FOIA cases and conta
ined no description of the 

attorneys' background. The Cour
t has considered Mr. Lesar's 

extensive experience in litigati
ng FOIA cases the past twelve 

years and the comparative undesi
rability of this case due to 

plaintiff's unpopularity with m
any government officials. Mr. 

Lesar claimed a rate of $100 an
 hour. The Court finds a 

reasonable rate in this case to 
be $75 an hour, the same rate 
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plaintiff's counsel obtained in se
ttling two other FOIA cases 

recently. Accordingly, the lodesta
r award is $62,617.50 

(834.9 hours x $75). 

An adjustment to the lodestar may 
be appropriate 

"for the risk that the lawsuit wou
ld be unsuccessful and that 

counsel would receive no fee"; "fo
r delay in receipt of 

payment for services"; or "to refle
ct unusually good or bad 

representation, taking into accoun
t the level of skill 

normally expected of an attorney co
mmanding the hourly rate 

used to compute the lodestar." Nat
ional Veterans, 675 F.2d, 

at 1328. 

Plaintiff's counsel has presented 
convincing support 

for the requested risk premium of 
50%. This case was 

unnecessarily prolonged, preventing
 counsel from taking many 

other cases over a six-year period
. Exhaustive examination of 

the thoroughness of the search for 
records in multiple offices 

was required. Plaintiff and his co
unsel incurred substantial 

out-of-pocket expenses. The outcom
e was highly uncertain, and 

plaintiff's counsel would not have
 received significant 

remuneration if the suit were unsu
ccessful. The lodestar does 

not reflect a risk allowance; the u
se of a rate arrived at by 

settlement negotiations represente
d a reasonable, market-rate 

compensation. See National Vetera
ns, 675 F.2d, at 1328. In 

the unusual circumstances of this c
ase, the Court grants 
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plaintiff's request for a risk premium of 50%. 
The lodestar 

therefore rises $31,308.75 to $93,926.25. 

The Court disagrees with plaintiff's other reque
sts 

for adjustment of the lodestar. An adjustment f
or delay in 

receipt is not applicable since the hourly rate 
is based on 

present hourly rates. National Veterans, 675 F.
2d, at 1329. 

Plaintiff seeks an increase of 100% in the lodes
tar because of 

deliberate delay and obdurate conduct. The Cour
t has found no 

support for doubling an award of attorney's fees
 on that 

asserted basis. It is true that "a federal cour
t may award 

counsel fees to a successful party when his oppo
nent has acted 

in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppr
essive 

reasons." Hall v. Cole, 412 U. S. 1, 5 (1973).
 However, that 

equitable power has been displaced by the explic
it statutory 

provision in FOIA for an award of fees. Cf. Fle
ischmann  

Distilling Corporation v. Maier Brewing Company,
 386 U. S. 

714, 720 (1967) ("When a cause of action has bee
n created by 

statute which expressly provides the remedies fo
r vindication 

of the cause, other remedies should not readily 
be implied"). 

The Court already considered defendant's conduct
 in deciding 

that plaintiff was entitled to an award. See La-
Salle  

Extension University v. Federal Trade Commission
, 627 F.2d 481 

(D. C. Cir. 1980) (noting that court may award f
ees to 

requesters who had a private self-interest for, 
and received a 
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pecuniary benefit from their FOIA req
uest where government 

officials were "recalcitrant on their
 opposition to a valid 

claim or . . . otherwise engaged in o
bdurate behavior"). To 

double the lodestar because of the de
fendant's conduct in this 

case would constitute an award of dam
ages, not fees. 

C. 

Plaintiff asserted costs in the amoun
t of $12,389.85. 

His counsel claimed other costs amoun
ting to $4,201.78. The 

costs were divided into eight categor
ies. Consolidating the 

costs of plaintiff and his counsel, p
laintiff seeks $7,245.27 

for photocopying; $4,045.87 for telep
hone calls; $3,556 for 

transcripts of depositions and court 
hearings; $1,212.23 for 

travel expenses; $255.18 for postage; 
$157.50 for Nimmer on  

Copyright; $108.08 for photographs; a
nd $11.50 for notary 

fees. 

The Government argued that "other lit
igation costs 

reasonably incurred," 5 U.S.C. S 552(
a)(4)(E), permits only 

the award of court costs. The Governm
ent did not define what 

it meant by court costs except to stat
e that cost of living 

and research costs were excluded. Whi
le the Court agrees with 

the Government that costs of living an
d research costs should 

be excluded, the plain language of th
e FOIA and its 

legislative history reveal a practical
 understanding of the 

costs of a FOIA lawsuit that go beyond
 filing fees and other 

obligatory court costs. 
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In 1972, the House Committee on Gove
rnment 

Operations recommended amending the 
FOIA to permit awards of 

"court costs and reasonable attorne
ys' fees." H. Rep. No. 

92-1419, 92nd Cong., 2d Sess. 83 (1
972). Both Senate and 

House bills to amend the FOIA were p
hrased using broader terms. 

They provided for "attorney fees and
 other litigation costs 

reasonably incurred." H.R. 12471, 9
3d Cong., 2d Sess. (1974), 

reprinted in Freedom of Information 
Act and Amendments of 1974 

(P.L. 93-502), Source Book: Legisla
tive History, Texts, and 

Other Documents, 94th Cong., 1st Ses
s. 145, 147 (1975) (Source 

Book); S. 2543, 93d Cong., 2d Sess. 
(1974), reprinted in 

Source Book, at 194, 202. This lang
uage passed both houses 

without revision. 

The House report referred to recover
y of costs, not 

court costs. H. Rep. No. 93-876, 93
d Cong., 2d Sess. (1974), 

reprinted in Source Book, at 121, 1
26. The Conference Report 

referred to litigation costs. H. Re
p. No. 93-1380, 93d Cong., 

2d Sess. (1974), reprinted in Sourc
e Book, at 219, 227. Only 

the Senate report referred to court 
costs, and that report 

also referred to litigation costs. 
S. Rep. No. 93-854, 93d 

Cong. 2d Sess. (1974), reprinted in 
Source Book, 153, 169-70. 

See Vermont Low Income Advocacy Coun
cil, Inc. v. Usery, 546 

F.2d 509, 512-13 (1st Cir. 1976). T
he legislative history 

shows that Congress did not intend a
 narrow construction of 

"litigation costs reasonably incurre
d." 
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With the exception of $
157.50 for purchase of 

a 

treatise, plaintiff's c
ategories of costs ampl

y fit within the 

rubric of "litigation c
osts reasonably incurre

d." However, in 

view of the considerabl
e sums involved, some e

xplanation is 

necessary concerning th
e timing and reasonable

ness of the 

asserted expenses. With
out requiring exact com

putation, the 

Court needs to know the
 approximate cost per p

age of 

photocopying; distribut
ion of photocopying bet

ween court 

filing and copies for p
arties on the one hand,

 and research 

use; the need for multi
ple long-distance telep

hone calls in 

this case and their gen
eral nature; and a calc

ulation of 

travel expenses incurre
d by plaintiff in meeti

ng with his 

counsel, government off
icials, or coming to co

urt. An 

explanation of the year
 in which these expense

s were 

approximately incurred 
would also aid the Cour

t's inquiry. 

Accordingly, after plai
ntiff submits adequate 

documentation for the c
osts of this lawsuit, t

he Court will 

determine the specific 
amount reasonably incur

red. 

D. 

Upon review of the disc
overy conducted by plai

ntiff 

and further examination
 of the law, the Court 

vacates its 

order granting plaintif
f a consultancy fee and

 denies 

plaintiff's motion for 
order compelling paymen

t of a 

consultancy fee. First,
 the consultancy arrang

ement is not a 
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litigation cost reasonably incurred; plaintiff made no 

out-of-pocket payment for which he seeks reimbursement. (The 

$50.31 listed in expenses for the consultancY arrangement 

should be treated in the documentation to be submitted by 

plaintiff on costs.) Rather, plaintiff seeks in award in the 

nature of payment of wages under a contractual agreement. 

Both parties agreed that the arrangement had no parallel in 

other FOIA litigation. Because the claim is for over $10,000 

and is not a normal litigation cost under the Freedom of 

Information Act, exclusive jurisdiction for enforcing it rests 

with the Court of Claims (now the United States Claims Court). 

28 U.S.C.A. § 1346(a)(2) (Supp. 1982); Village of Kaktovik v.  

Watt, 689 F.2d 222, 231 n.76 (D. C. Cir. 1982) (enforcement of 

settlement contract is within exclusive jurisdiction of Court 

of Claims). 

Assuming plaintiff would waive the excess of the 

claim over $10,000 as he is entitled to do, see Stone v.  

United States, 683 F.2d 449, 452 (D. C. Cir. 1982), the Court 

decides on the merits for the Government. 

In the first place, no contract was formed because 

essential terms were never agreed upon: the amount of time to 

be spent on the consultancy and the place where plaintiff was 

to work. The Restatement (Second) of Contracts states in 

relevant part: 
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to work. The Restatement (Second) of Contracts states in 

relevant part: 
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(1) Even though a manifestation of intention 
is 

intended to be understood as an offer, it can
not be 

accepted so as to form a contract unless the 
terms 

of the contract are reasonably certain. 

(2) The terms of a contract are reasonably 

certain if they provide a basis for determini
ng the 

existence of a breach and for giving an appro
priate 

remedy. 
(3) The fact that one or more terms of a propos

ed 

bargain are left open or uncertain may show t
hat a 

manifestation of intention is not intended to
 be 

understood as an offer or as an acceptance. 

S 33 (1981). 

The place of work was important because if pl
aintiff 

was to work at the defendant's offices, the d
efendant's assent 

to the arrangement would have been clear. The
 amount of time 

to-be spent was crucial because the total cos
t to the 

defendant would depend primarily on it. The 
lack of agreement 

on these terms prevented a contract from comi
ng into 

existence, even accepting that Mrs. Zusman ha
d offered 

plaintiff $75 an hour. Restatement (Second) 
of Contracts S 33 

(1981). Courts have often found that "(v)agu
eness of 

expression, indefiniteness and uncertainty as
 to any of the 

essential terms of an agreement" prevented th
e creation of an 

enforceable contract. 1 A. Corbin, Contracts
 S 95 (1950 & 

Supp. 1982). 

Ordinarily, since an agreement was intended b
y both 

parties, the Court would infer a reasonable t
ime and place for 

performance and a reasonble hourly rate. Id.
 Two factors 

persuade the Court otherwise here. First, pla
intiff should 
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reasonably have realized that further
 terms needed to be -

agreed upon before proceeding with th
e consultancy work. 

Second, the defendant did not use pla
intiff's work and thus 

derived no benefit from it. 

Contrary to the Government's contentio
n, the lack of 

a writing would not bar recovery thro
ugh quantum meruit or 

implied in fact contract. Narva Harri
s Construction  

Corporation v. United States, 574 F.2
d 508, 510-11 (Ct.Clms. 

1978). For the same reasons the Court
 declined to infer 

essential contractual terms, the Court
 concludes that it would 

be unfair to defendant to award plain
tiff in quantum meruit or 

for breach of an implied in fact cont
ract. While the Court 

does not approve of the Government's 
repudiation of the 

consultancy arrangement, an award to 
plaintiff for time spent 

voluntarily on this lawsuit would dup
licate the fee award to 

his counsel. 

An appropriate order accompanies this
 opinion. 

JUNE L. 
U. S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

January 18, 1983 
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